

Bylaws of Southwestern Association of Law Libraries
as Amended March 30, 2019

ARTICLE 1
NAME AND PURPOSE

1.1 Name

The name of the Corporation is the Southwestern Association of Law libraries (SWALL), a Chapter of the American Association of Law Libraries.

1.2 Purpose

This Corporation is organized exclusively as a business league described in section 501(c)(3) and exempt from taxation under section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), or corresponding provisions hereinafter in effect. More specifically the Corporation is created to promote librarianship, to develop and increase the usefulness of law libraries, to cultivate the science of law librarianship, and to foster a spirit of cooperation among members of the profession, particularly those in the southwestern area of the United States. The Corporation shall be operated exclusively for such purposes; no part of its net earnings shall inure to the benefit of any private member, director or individual.

ARTICLE 2
MEMBERSHIP

2.1 Eligibility for Membership

Membership in the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries shall be open to all persons interested in law librarianship or in law libraries.

2.2 Classification of Membership

There shall be six classes of membership.

- a) Individual members. Any person interested in law librarianship and currently, or within the last seven years, employed at least 30% of full time to perform professional work by either:

- 1) A law library, a state library, an American Library Association

accredited library school, or a general library having a separately maintained law section; or

- 2) An individual or organization providing professional services to law libraries. Such membership cannot be transferred or assigned.

However, if the person is currently employed by a legal publisher or vendor, he/she cannot be an individual member even if employed within the last seven years under this section.

- b) Institutional members. Any law library, state library, American Library Association accredited library school, or institution having a separately maintained law library may become an institutional member upon payment of annual dues. The Board of Directors is empowered to determine whether the institution applying for membership qualifies. Such membership cannot be transferred or assigned.
- c) Associate members. Any person who does not qualify as an individual member or who is currently employed by a legal publisher or vendor is an associate member. Associate members are non-voting members.
- d) Life members. The members entitled to vote may, by a vote of 2/3 of the majority, elect to life membership those who have been members of the Corporation for at least five years, but who have retired from active library work. Someone who is currently working for a legal publisher or vendor is not "retired."
- e) Student members. Any person enrolled in an American Library Association accredited library school may become a student member by submitting a membership form. Membership in this category is limited to five consecutive years. Students who do not meet the requirements described in this section may be granted a Student Membership at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
- f) Retired members. Any person who is interested in the objectives of the Corporation and has retired from active library work may become a retired

member. Someone who is currently working for a legal publisher or vendor is not “retired.”

2.3 Rights and Privileges

- a) Voting. The right to vote shall be restricted to members in good standing who are individual members, institutionally designated members, life members, student members, or retired members.
- b) Committees. All members have the right to serve on committees. The right to chair a committee shall be restricted to individual members, institutionally designated members, and retired members.
- c) Board of Directors. The right to be a member of the Board of Directors shall be restricted to individual members, institutionally designated members, and retired members who are members in good standing of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries. The President must also be a member of the American Association of Law Libraries. If a member of the Board of Directors changes membership classification during the time the member is serving as an elected officer and the new membership classification is not eligible to hold office, the member is said to have automatically resigned from office and a vacancy in that office results.
- d) Designation and transference of membership. The right to designate and transfer membership shall be restricted to institutional members. An institutional member shall designate membership in compliance with procedures established by the Board of Directors. It shall be the responsibility of the institutional member to notify the Board of Directors of any transfers of designated memberships.
- e) Changes in membership. A member’s classification of membership may change during the membership year. Such changes should be reported to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may delegate the authority to assign membership classification to a committee. Appeals from delegated decisions may be made to the Board of Directors.

2.4 Anti-Discrimination

Membership in the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries or participation in any activity of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries shall not be abridged or denied to any individual on account of race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age, disability, sexual orientation or gender identity.

2.5 Non-Liability of Members

The members of the Corporation shall not be personally liable for the debts, liabilities, or obligations of the Corporation.

2.6 Notice to Members

Whenever these Bylaws require notice be given to members of the Corporation, such notice shall be given by sending email to the member's email address of record, sending electronically transmitted facsimile copy (fax) to the member's fax number of record, or mailing printed or written notice to the member's postal address of record. Printed or written notice shall be considered given when the required notice is included in a Corporation publication sent to all members.

ARTICLE 3 DUES

3.1 Dues Year

Dues shall be payable on June 1. Dues paid during the Corporation's fiscal year will be applied to that fiscal year's membership. A member failing to pay dues on or before September 1, after receiving notice, shall be delinquent and not in good standing and shall be suspended for that year. Suspended members may be reinstated at any time upon payment of the current year's dues. Dues are not refundable.

3.2 Payment of Dues and Amounts

- a) The membership sets the classes and amounts of dues. Any changes to the classes or amounts of dues must be approved by the membership, except as provided for below.
- b) Notwithstanding the above paragraph, the Board of Directors may increase the amount of dues for a fiscal year at any time up to four weeks before the dues become payable for that fiscal year by a percentage rate not greater than the latest Gross Domestic Product Deflator as published by the United

States Bureau of Economic Analysis.

- c) The Board of Directors shall publish the classes and amounts of dues for the current and upcoming fiscal years on the Corporation's website. Any changes to the classes or amounts of dues shall be published within three weeks of such change or four weeks before the due date for dues, whichever is earlier.

3.3 Waiver of Dues

Life members and student members shall not be assessed annual dues.

ARTICLE 4 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS AND VOTING

4.1 Annual Business Meeting

The annual business meeting of the members shall be held at such date and at such time as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors. At that time the members shall transact such business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

4.2 Special Meetings

Special meetings of the members for any purpose or purposes shall be called by the President at the request of the Board of Directors or at the request in writing of at least 25 percent of the members entitled to vote. A request for the special meeting shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting, and business transacted at any special meeting of members shall be limited to the purposes stated in the notice.

4.3 Proper Notice for Meeting

The Board shall send notice to each member at least 30 days before a meeting.

4.4 Supervising Members' Meetings

The President, and in the President's absence the Vice President/President-Elect, shall call members' meeting to order, and shall act as chair of such meetings, and the Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of all such meetings, but in the absence of the Secretary, the chair may appoint any person present to act as Secretary of the meeting.

4.5 Quorum

- a) A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of members shall consist of fifteen (15) members registered at that meeting.
- b) Loss of Quorum. The members present at the duly called or held meeting may continue to transact business until adjournment, even if enough members have withdrawn to leave less than a quorum, if any action taken (other than adjournment) is approved by at least a majority of the members required to constitute a quorum.

4.6 Voting at Meetings

If a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of the majority of members shall decide any question brought before such a meeting, unless the question is one of which a different vote is required by law or by the articles of incorporation or elsewhere in these bylaws. Members entitled to vote shall have one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a members' meeting.

4.7 Written/Electronic Voting

- a) Any matter or issue requiring the vote of the members, or upon which the Board resolves to seek action by the members, may be submitted to the members for approval by written/electronic ballot without the necessity of calling a meeting of members.
- b) The determination to seek member approval for actions by written/electronic ballot shall be made by the Board or by members possessing 10 percent of the total voting power of the membership signing a written/electronic request and delivering this request to the President, Vice President/President-Elect, and Secretary.
- c) The written/electronic ballot shall be distributed to every member entitled to vote on the matter at least 15 days prior to the final date the written/electronic ballots are to be received to be counted. Each member entitled to vote shall have one vote on each matter submitted for approval by written/electronic ballot.
- d) The number of votes cast by written/electronic ballot within the voting

period must equal or exceed the quorum specified in section 4.5.

- e) A vote of the majority of members who submit completed written/electronic ballots shall decide any matter or issue submitted for approval by written/electronic ballot.

4.8 Voting on Issues Submitted to the Membership

The Board may submit matters for decision to the membership. The Board must give thirty (30) days notice of the matter and may use any means to conduct the vote of the membership at a meeting. The Board may also submit matters for decision to the membership using a written or electronic vote in accordance with section 4.7 above.

ARTICLE 5 NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS

5.1 Nominations Committee

The Vice President/President-Elect (VP/PE) shall appoint a Nominations Committee consisting of at least two members in good standing to serve a term to coincide with the VP/PE's term as President. No member of the Nominations Committee shall be an officer of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries or a candidate for office. The Nominations Committee shall present a list of candidates for the Board of Directors to the President at least 60 days in advance of the annual meeting or January 20, whichever is earlier. The President shall provide notice of the candidates to all members no later than 45 days in advance of the annual meeting or February 5, whichever is earlier.

5.2 Additional Nominations

Additional nominations may be made by any member entitled to vote and in good standing by submission in writing to the President no later than 37 days in advance of the annual meeting or February 10, whichever is earlier.

5.3 Elections and Method of Voting

- a) In the event that there is more than one nominee in a fiscal year for an open seat on the Board of Directors, a general election shall be held.
- b) Voting begins 30 days in advance of the annual meeting or by May 1, whichever is earlier., Voting concludes no later than 15 days in advance of

the annual meeting or by May 15, whichever is earlier . In the event of a tie, the successful candidate shall be determined by lot conducted by the Nominations Committee.

- c) The Directors so elected shall assume their positions on the Board of Directors at the adjournment of the annual business meeting or by June 1, whichever is earlier, and shall hold such office until their successors are elected and qualify.

5.4 Uncontested Elections

In the event that there is only one nominee in a fiscal year for each open seat on the Board of Directors, that nominee shall be deemed elected by acclamation. No general election shall be held.

5.5 Special Elections

The Board may decide the means of conducting special elections. The Board must give notice of a special election.

ARTICLE 6 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

6.1 Board Responsibilities

The Board of Directors (Board) shall have general supervision of the affairs of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries. It shall have immediate charge, management, and control of the activities and business affairs of the Corporation, shall determine the location of annual meetings, and shall have full power in the intervals between meetings of members to do any and all things in relation to the affairs of the Corporation. Such powers include, but are not limited to, the ability to incur indebtedness, solicit funding, make public statements, issue public writings, and establish and maintain relations with other organizations.

6.2 Number of Members and Terms of Office

Until changed by amendment to the bylaws, the Board of Directors shall consist of a President, Vice President/President-Elect, Secretary, Treasurer and the most recent available Past President. No member may hold more than one position on the Board of Directors at a time. No member may be elected to the same position on the Board

of Directors for more than three consecutive terms.

The term of office for Secretary and for Treasurer shall be one year. Terms of office commence at the adjournment of the annual business meeting or on June 1, whichever is earlier. Terms of office continue until successors have been elected and assume those duties. The term and status of the Vice President/President-Elect shall be: in the first year, Vice President/President-Elect; in the second year, President; and in the third year, Past President. Thus, a person elected to the position of Vice President/President-Elect serves on the board three years.

6.3 Vacancies

A vacancy shall be declared in any seat on the Board upon the death, resignation, or incapacitating or disabling injury of an officer which renders the officer incapable of participating in the management and affairs of the Corporation for the remaining term of office.

Replacements for the offices of President, Vice President/President-Elect, Secretary or Treasurer shall be elected by a majority of the remaining members of the Board to serve until a new member is elected by the general membership in a regular election if one is to be held within three months. If a regular election is not scheduled to be held within three months, the vacancy will be filled by holding a special election as set out in Article 5.4.

A replacement for the office of Past President shall be chosen by the remaining members of the Board from among the past Presidents of the Corporation. The replacement shall be the past president with the most recent experience as a member of the Board, to the extent possible. The replacement shall serve until a new President takes office.

6.4 Meetings of the Board

Meetings of the Board shall be held whenever called by the President of the Corporation.

6.5 Supervising Board Meetings

The President, and in the absence of the President the Vice President/President-Elect, shall call meetings of the Board to order, and shall act as chair of such

meetings. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as Secretary of all such meetings, but in the absence of the Secretary the chair may appoint any person present to act as Secretary of the meeting.

6.6 Quorum for Board Meetings

A majority of the Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings convened according to these bylaws.

6.7 Votes of the Board of Directors

Resolutions of the Board shall be adopted by the vote of a majority of its members present at a meeting. The Board may conduct business by correspondence. A vote taken by mail, telephone, or other electronic means shall become the act of the Board upon the approval of a majority of the members of the Board.

ARTICLE 7 GENERAL OFFICERS

7.1 Enumeration of Officers

The officers of this Corporation shall be the President, Vice President/President-Elect, Secretary and Treasurer.

7.2 Duties

The principle duties of the several officers are as follows:

- a) President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the members and Board. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation, and, subject to the control of the Board, shall have general charge and supervision of the administration of the affairs and business of the Corporation. The President shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board are carried into effect. The President shall sign and execute all legal documents and instruments in the name of the Corporation when authorized to do so by the Board and shall perform such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Board. The President of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries must be a member of the American Association of Law Libraries.

- b) Vice President/President-Elect. The Vice President/President-Elect (VP/PE) shall discharge the duties of the President in the event of the President's absence or temporarily disability for any cause whatever. The VP/PE shall have charge of the continuing education programs and shall be the chair of the Program Committee for a term to coincide with his/her term as Vice President/President-Elect. The VP/PE shall perform such additional duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board. At the expiration of the President's term of office, the Vice President/President-Elect shall succeed to the office of the President for one one-year term.
- c) Secretary. The Secretary shall have charge of the records and correspondence of the Corporation under the direction of the President. The Secretary shall discharge such other duties as shall be assigned by the President or the Board. In case of the absence or temporary disability of the Secretary, the Board may appoint an Assistant Secretary to perform the duties of the Secretary during such absence or temporary disability.
- d) Treasurer. The Treasurer shall keep account of all moneys, credits, and property of the Corporation and keep an accurate account of all moneys received and discharged. Except as otherwise ordered by the Board, the Treasurer shall have custody of all the funds and securities of the Corporation and shall deposit the same in such banks or depositories as the Board shall designate. The Treasurer shall keep proper books of accounts and other records showing at all times the amount of the funds and other property belonging to the Corporation, all of which books shall be open at all times to the inspection of the Board. The Treasurer shall also submit a report of the accounts and financial condition of the Corporation at each annual business meeting.

The Treasurer shall, under the direction of the Board, disburse all moneys and sign all checks and other instruments drawn on or payable out of the funds of the Corporation. Checks may also be required by the Board to be signed by the President or Vice President, or in case of their absence or temporary disability, by such member of the Board as the Board shall designate. No moneys, credits, or property of the Corporation shall be transmitted to an individual, business, or other organization via wire transfer without the explicit approval of a majority of the officers of the

Corporation.

In general, the Treasurer shall perform all duties which are incident to the office of Treasurer, subject to the Board, and shall perform such additional duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board. The Treasurer shall give bond only if required by the Board.

In case of absence or temporary disability of the Treasurer, the Board may appoint an Assistant Treasurer to perform the duties of the Treasurer during such absence or temporary disability.

7.3 Reimbursement of Expenses

Officers and directors shall serve without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for expenditures incurred in the discharge of their duties.

ARTICLE 8

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS

8.1 Indemnification

The Corporation shall indemnify directors, officers, employees, and agents of the Corporation to the fullest extent required by Title 1, Chapter 8 of the Business Organizations Code (*Vernon's Texas Statute and Codes Annotated*). The Corporation may indemnify such persons to the fullest extent permitted by Title 1, Chapter 8 of the Business Organizations Code (*Vernon's Texas Statute and Codes Annotated*), subject in each case to restrictions, if any, in the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation. The Corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain at its cost and expense insurance on behalf of such persons to the fullest extent permitted by Title 1, Chapter 8 of the Business Organizations Code (*Vernon's Texas Statute and Codes Annotated*).

ARTICLE 9

COMMITTEES

9.1 Creation

In order to better serve the membership, the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries shall have such committees as the Board may create or may be created by a majority vote of those present and voting at any members' meeting of the Corporation. When a committee is created, its class, purpose, and term (as

appropriate) shall be clearly stated.

9.2 Classes of Committees

The committees of the Corporation shall be of two classes: Standing committees and Special committees.

9.3 Standing Committees

The Board shall create standing committees to address matters of ongoing concern to the Corporation. Standing committees perform a continuing function and remain in existence until abolished by the Board. The members of all standing committees shall be appointed by the Vice President/President-Elect for a term to coincide with the VP/PE's term as President, except as otherwise provided in these bylaws.

9.4 Special Committees

Special committees shall be appointed by the Board for a stated term to accomplish a specific purpose. At the end of that period, the continuation of each special committee shall be decided upon by the Board.

9.5 Ex-Officio Committee Members

The President shall be an ex-officio member of all committees except the Nominations Committee.

9.6 Restriction

No committee shall incur expenses on behalf of the Corporation except as authorized by the Board, nor shall any committee commit the Corporation by any declaration of policy.

ARTICLE 10 AMENDMENTS

10.1 These bylaws may be amended by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the membership of the Corporation, provided that such amendment(s) have been submitted in writing to the Board. The Board shall provide notice of the proposed amendment(s) to all members in good standing at least 30 days prior to the close of balloting. Amendments to these bylaws shall be submitted to the American Association of Law Libraries Committee on Constitution and Bylaws by the

President.

ARTICLE 11
MISCELLANEOUS

11.1 Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries shall be June 1 – May 31.

11.2 Parliamentary Authority

The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall govern meetings of the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries, so long as they are consistent with the bylaws and any other rules that the Southwestern Association of Law Libraries may adopt.